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Plaintiffs Faith Baptist Church, James Combs, Martin Woody, K.H. (by and through next 

friend Dawn Harmon), E.H. (by and through next friend Donna Harrison), Andrew Olafsson and 

Jeffrey Johnson (collectively referred to as “Plaintiffs”), by and through undersigned counsel, 

bring this Complaint against the above-named Defendants, their employees, agents and 

successors in office, and in support thereof allege the following upon information and belief: 

INTRODUCTION 

1.  This suit seeks to vindicate Plaintiffs’ fundamental constitutional rights.  It is a civil 

rights action brought pursuant to the First, Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United 

States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. §1983, and the Michigan Constitution of 1963, challenging the 

unconstitutional acts, policies, practices and customs of Defendants, as set forth in this 

Complaint.  Plaintiffs also challenge Waterford Township Ordinance, Sec. 11-167 “Disturbing 

the Peace” (hereinafter “Township Ordinance”), facially and as applied to Plaintiffs’ 

constitutionally protected activity. 

2.  Plaintiffs seek a declaration that Defendants violated their clearly established rights as set 

forth in this Complaint; a declaration that the Township Ordinance is unconstitutional facially 

and as applied to Plaintiffs’ constitutionally protected activity; and a declaration that through the 

threatened enforcement of the Township Ordinance, Defendants have substantially burdened and 

unlawfully infringed upon Plaintiffs’ constitutionally protected rights, including the rights of 

freedom of speech, religious exercise, and religious expression and the right to be free from 

unreasonable searches and seizure as set forth in this Complaint.  Plaintiffs also seek a permanent 

injunction enjoining the unlawful enforcement of the Township Ordinance and the unlawful acts, 
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polices, practices, and/or customs of Defendants as set forth in this Complaint.  Plaintiffs further 

seek nominal and compensatory damages against all Defendants for the harm caused by their 

actions and punitive damages against the Defendants sued in their individual capacities for their 

reckless, wanton, intentional, and outrageous conduct and actions.  Finally, Plaintiffs seek an 

award of reasonable costs of litigation, including attorneys’ fees and expenses, pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1988. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This action arises under the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United 

States Constitution, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and the Michigan Constitution.  Jurisdiction is conferred 

on this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343.  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction 

over the state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

4. Plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory and injunctive relief are authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 

2201 and 2202, by Rules 57 and 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and by the general 

legal and equitable powers of this Court.  Plaintiffs’ claim for damages is made pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1983 and other applicable law.   

5. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this district. 

PLAINTIFFS 

6. Plaintiff Faith Baptist Church (“FBC”) is a non-denominational Christian congregation 

located in the Township of Waterford, State of Michigan.  It is incorporated under the laws of the 
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State of Michigan and recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as a 501(c)(3) non-profit 

organization. FBC has owned its property and occupied a Church thereon since 1955.  FBC’s 

Waterford Campus has a congregation of approximately 5,000 members. 

7. Plaintiff James Combs is senior Pastor and lead administrator of FBC.  At all times 

relevant herein, Pastor Combs was responsible for FBC’s daily operations. 

8. Plaintiff Martin Woody is assistant Pastor and administrator of FBC’s Waterford campus. 

At all times relevant herein, Pastor Woody was responsible for daily operations at FBC’s 

Waterford campus. 

9. Plaintiff Dawn Harmon is the parent and legal guardian of K.H.  Plaintiff K.H. is a minor 

and at all times relevant herein, was a member of FBC’s congregation and a resident of White 

Lake, Michigan.   

10. Plaintiff Donna Harrison is the parent and legal guardian of E.H.  Plaintiff E.H. is a minor 

and at all times relevant herein, was a member of FBC’s congregation and a resident of White 

Lake, Michigan.   

11. Plaintiff Andrew Olafsson, at all times relevant herein, was a member of FBC’s 

congregation and a resident of Clarkston, Michigan. 

12. Plaintiff Jeffrey Johnson, at all times relevant herein, was a member of FBC’s 

congregation and a resident of Clarkston, Michigan. 

DEFENDANTS 

13. Defendant Waterford Township (“Waterford”) is a municipal entity organized and 

existing under the laws of the state of Michigan.  It is empowered to act through its governing 
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bodies, officials, and employees.  It is also responsible for creating, adopting, implementing, 

managing, enforcing and supervising the implementation of Waterford’s laws, ordinances, 

regulations, policies, practices and/or customs, including the Township Ordinances.  Waterford 

is responsible for employing and supervising individuals responsible for such enforcement.  

Waterford can sue and be sued in its own name. 

14. Defendant Carl Solden (“Solden”), at all times relevant herein, was Waterford’s 

Township Supervisor and acting under color of state law.  Solden is responsible for creating, 

adopting, implementing, managing, enforcing and supervising the implementation of 

Waterford’s laws, ordinances, regulations, policies, practices and/or customs, including the 

Township Ordinances.  Solden is responsible for directing, managing and supervising 

Waterford’s employees, including members of Waterford’s Board of Supervisors and Chief of 

Police.  Solden is sued individually and in his official capacity. 

15. Defendant Daniel T. McCaw (“McCaw”) is Waterford’s Chief of Police.  McCaw is 

responsible for enforcing Waterford’s laws and is responsible for adopting rules and regulations, 

setting and determining policy, and overseeing the operations of the Waterford Police 

Department and its employees.  McCaw is responsible for the acts, policies, practices and/or 

customs of the Waterford Police Department and its employees.  At all relevant times herein, 

McCaw was an agent, servant, and/or employee of Defendant Waterford, acting under color of 

state law.  McCaw is sued individually and in his official capacity. 

16. Defendant Jeffrey James (“James”) is Waterford’s Deputy Chief of Police.  James is 

responsible for enforcing Waterford’s laws and is responsible for adopting rules and regulations, 
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setting and determining policy, and overseeing the operations of the Waterford Police 

Department and its employees.  James is responsible for the acts, policies, practices and/or 

customs of the Waterford Police Department and its employees.  At all relevant times herein, 

James was an agent, servant, and/or employee of Defendant Waterford, acting under color of 

state law.  James is sued individually and in his official capacity. 

17. Defendant Walter Bedell (“Bedell”), at all times relevant herein, was Waterford’s 

prosecutor and acting under color of state law.  Bedell is responsible for prosecuting violations of 

Waterford’s laws, ordinances and regulations.  Bedell is sued individually and in his official 

capacity.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

18. FBC has always been clearly identified as a Church and is known as such throughout its 

local community.  FBC is lawfully located in a residential zoning district.  FBC regularly holds 

various worship services and community events essential to their religious beliefs.   

19. FBC’s religious exercise includes, among other things, singing and playing religious 

music.  Religious songs and music are central to FBC’s religious exercise and an integral part of 

worship services.  Contemporary religious music played at FBC serves the same purpose as 

traditional religious music and is an intimate expression of worship, fellowship, and communion.  

20. On Wednesday evenings, FBC holds adult supervised youth services restricted to persons 

aged 17 years and younger, which is in addition to Sunday services.  FBC is generally closed to 

the public at large and its services are attended only by FBC’s congregation and their invited 

guests.   
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21. On or about August 26, 2007, a person who had moved into a residence across the street 

from FBC in 2004, for the first time complained to the Waterford Township police department 

about religious music coming from FBC.  The complaint was subsequently forwarded  to 

Defendant Bedell. 

22. On or about Wednesday, October 7, 2007, at Defendants’ direction, uniformed Waterford 

police officers raided FBC, without a search warrant, arrest warrant or on any other legal 

authority, detained Pastor Mark Kerr, interrogated him and seized his driver’s license.  At no 

time during his detention did Pastor Kerr feel free to leave. 

23. On or about Sunday, October 10, 2007, uniformed Waterford police officers were again 

dispatched to FBC.  These officers were instructed by a supervisor to make liaison with Bedell 

and inform him that they were en route to FBC. The uniformed officers rendezvoused with 

Bedell, who, acting in a law enforcement capacity, personally led and directed this raid. Bedell 

and the uniformed officers, again without a search warrant, arrest warrant or any other legal 

authority, entered FBC, advanced into the interior Chapel, and detained and began interrogating 

Youth Pastor Jayson Combs.  Bedell and the uniformed police officers also detained members of 

FBC’s band, including two children, interrogated them and seized their personal identification.  

Bedell informed his suspects that they were being charged criminally. Bedell stated that any 

concerns should be directed to the “Deputy Chief of Police” (Defendant James).  At no time 

during their detention, did Youth Pastor Combs, the band, or the children believe they were free 

to leave. 
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24. Bedell took the aforementioned actions against FBC and its members based upon his 

belief that the religious music played by FBC was improper.  Bedell threatened that officers 

would raid FBC every time Defendants received a complaint against FBC concerning music that 

was being played by the Church.  

25. On or about October 11, 2007, James drafted an email to Defendant McCaw and 

members of the Waterford’s Police Department discussing the October 10, 2007 FBC raid.  

James stated that Defendant Solden (“Solden”) had contacted Bedell and instructed him to 

“mediate” the FBC situation.  James ordered that a supervisor was required to be dispatched to 

FBC following any future FBC complaint. 

26. On or about October 15, 2007, four FBC members received letters from the “Office of 

General Counsel and Prosecutors for the Charter Township of Waterford,” signed by Bedell.  

These notices informed the FBC members that a criminal complaint was made against them and 

that failure to contact Bedell could result in a “warrant being issued.”  Defendants threatened 

Plaintiffs with “misdemeanor charges” pursuant to violations of Waterford Township Ordinance 

Sec. 11-167, “Disturbing the Peace,” which reads in pertinent part: 

“It is a violation of this Code for any person to disturb the public peace and quiet by 

shouting, whistling, engaging in loud, boisterous or vulgar conduct, or by the playing of 

disc or tape players, radios, televisions, or any other means of amplification at a time and 

place so as to unreasonably annoy or disturb the quiet, comfort and repose of persons in 

the vicinity.”  
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27. On or about Wednesday, October 17, 2007, immediately prior to a Wednesday evening 

youth service, one of the Plaintiffs discovered Bedell, again acting in a law enforcement 

capacity, conducting surveillance on FBC from inside a parked vehicle.  

28. On or about Sunday, October 28, 2007, during an evening worship service, again without 

a search warrant, arrest warrant, or any other legal authority, uniformed Waterford Township 

police officers, at Defendants’ direction, again raided FBC.  The purpose of this raid was to 

obtain the personal information of FBC members inside.  At the time of this raid, Plaintiff Pastor 

Combs was in the middle of delivering his sermon.  Despite this, the officers demanded entry 

into the FBC’s sanctuary.  An FBC Pastor pleaded with the officers that he be allowed to remove 

the individual FBC members to the lobby in order to minimize disruption of the in-progress 

worship service.  The officers permitted the Pastor to remove two FBC members who were then 

detained, interrogated, and had their personal information seized.  

29. Subsequently, Defendants threatened that every time a complaint is received against 

FBC, they will conduct a raid, conduct investigation therein, and collect evidence sufficient to 

charge FBC members with violating the Township Ordinance.  Defendants do not have in place 

procedures for making objective assessments under the Township Ordinance and enforcing it 

requires a subjective determination and individualized assessment.   

30. Defendants’ intentional and unreasonable threats of criminal action, surveillance, and 

shows of authority, have had a chilling effect and placed a substantial burden on Plaintiffs’ rights 

to free speech, free exercise of religion, religious expression, and expressive association, in 
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violation of the United States Constitution and the Michigan Constitution.  Producing this effect 

upon Plaintiffs was a substantial and motivating factor for Defendants’ actions. 

31. Defendants have made real and concrete threats to enforce, in perpetuity, the Township 

Ordinance against Plaintiffs, thereby establishing a well-settled practice or custom, designed to 

prohibit Plaintiffs’ religious music.  Thereby, Defendants have restricted Plaintiffs’ free speech, 

religious expression, religious exercise, and expressive association, in violation of the United 

States Constitution and the Michigan Constitution.   

32. Defendants have, intentionally and unreasonably, targeted FBC with police action, 

including arrest and prosecution, because they do not agree with Plaintiffs’ protected speech 

and/or religious exercise. 

33. The outrageous and unconstitutional actions taken by Waterford officials, employees, 

agents and/or independent contractors, against FBC, described in this Complaint, were directed 

by, set in motion by, promulgated by, adopted by, ratified by, and/or known to, Defendants 

Waterford Township, Solden, McCaw, James and Bedell.  Defendants also showed deliberate 

indifference to the consequences their own actions, as well as those of their officials, employees, 

agents and/or independent contractors, had upon Plaintiffs.  

34. As a result of Defendants’ actions, Plaintiffs suffered and continue to suffer fear, 

humiliation, shame, indignity, worry, embarrassment, loss of reputation, and emotional and 

physical distress.  

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Free Exercise—First Amendment 
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(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

35. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above-stated paragraphs. 

36. By reason of the aforementioned policy, practice, custom, acts and omissions, engaged in 

under color of state law, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of their right to religious exercise in 

violation of the Free Exercise Clause of the First Amendment as applied to the states and their 

political subdivisions under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. 

37. Defendants further violated Plaintiffs’ right to religious exercise by targeting Plaintiffs 

for discriminatory and arbitrary enforcement of its laws on account of Plaintiffs’ religious 

practices. 

38. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the Free Exercise Clause of 

the First Amendment, Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of their 

constitutional rights, entitling them to declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Freedom of Speech—First Amendment 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

39. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above-stated paragraphs. 

40. By reason of the aforementioned policy, practice, custom, acts and omissions, engaged in 

under color of state law, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of their right to religious expression 

in violation of the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment as applied to the states and their 
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political subdivisions under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. 

41. Defendants’ Township Ordinance, as applied to Plaintiffs, and as set forth in this 

Complaint, are unconstitutionally vague and/or overbroad, causing a chilling effect on Plaintiffs’ 

religious expression in violation of the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment as applied to 

the states and their political subdivisions under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

42. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the Free Speech Clause of 

the First Amendment, Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of their 

constitutional rights, entitling them to declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Freedom of Expressive Association—First Amendment 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

43. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above-stated paragraphs. 

44. By reason of the aforementioned policy, practice, custom, acts and omissions, engaged in 

under color of state law, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of their right to expressive 

association guaranteed by the First Amendment as applied to the states and their political 

subdivisions under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 

1983. 
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45. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the First Amendment, 

Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of their constitutional rights, entitling 

them to declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

Conspiracy—First Amendment 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 

46. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above paragraphs. 

47. By reason of the aforementioned acts and omissions, and policies, practices, and/or 

customs, engaged in under the color of state law, Defendants have conspired to 

unconstitutionally deprive Plaintiffs of their right to freely exercise their religion, freedom of 

speech, and freedom of expressive association guaranteed under the First Amendment to the 

United States Constitution as applied to the states and their political subdivisions under the 

Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, in that Defendants agreed to and engaged in overt 

acts that did unlawfully and unreasonably threaten Plaintiffs with criminal action and did 

unlawfully and unreasonably detain and search Plaintiffs because of their First Amendment 

activities. 

48. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of Plaintiffs’ rights, Plaintiffs 

have suffered direct and irreparable injury, and they are entitled to damages. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

Unlawful Search and Seizure—Fourth Amendment 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

49. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above paragraphs. 
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50. By reason of the aforementioned acts and omissions, and policies, practices, and/or 

customs, engaged in under the color of state law, Defendants unconstitutionally detained 

Plaintiffs, unconstitutionally searched Plaintiffs, and unconstitutionally seized Plaintiffs’ persons 

and other property, without a warrant, without probable cause or reasonable suspicion that a 

crime had been, was being, or would be committed, and without consent, and thus deprived 

Plaintiffs of their rights to be free of unreasonable police searches and seizures, to be free of 

warrantless searches and seizures, and to be free of searches and seizures without probable cause, 

which are guaranteed to them under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution as 

applied to the states and their political subdivisions under the Fourteenth Amendment and 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. 

51. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of Plaintiffs’ rights, Plaintiffs 

have suffered direct and irreparable injury, and they are entitled to damages. 

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

Conspiracy—Fourth Amendment 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

52. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above paragraphs. 

53. By reason of the aforementioned acts and omissions, and policies, practices, and/or 

customs, engaged in under the color of state law, Defendants have conspired to 

unconstitutionally deprive Plaintiffs of their rights guaranteed under the Fourth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution as applied to the states and their political subdivisions under the 

Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, in that Defendants agreed to and engaged in overt 
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acts that did unlawfully and unreasonably stop, search and seize Plaintiffs’ persons and personal 

property without a warrant, without probable cause or reasonable suspicion that a crime had 

been, was being, or would be committed, and without valid consent, and thus deprived Plaintiffs 

of their rights to be free of warrantless searches and seizures, and to be free of searches and 

seizures without probable cause, which are guaranteed to them under the Fourth Amendment to 

the United States Constitution, as applied to the states and their political subdivisions under the 

Fourteenth Amendment and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

54. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of Plaintiffs’ rights, Plaintiffs 

have suffered direct and irreparable injury, and they are entitled to damages. 

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

Equal Protection—Fourteenth Amendment 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

55. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above-stated paragraphs. 

56. By reason of the aforementioned policy, practice, custom, acts and omissions, engaged in 

under color of state law, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of the equal protection of the law 

guaranteed under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 by discriminating against Plaintiffs in the application of their 

laws on account of Plaintiffs’ exercise of their religious rights and thereby treating Plaintiffs on 

less than equal terms.  Defendants targeted Plaintiffs for discriminatory and arbitrary 

enforcement of their laws on account of Plaintiffs religious practices thereby infringing upon 

Plaintiffs’ fundamental rights. 
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57. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the Equal Protection Clause 

of the Fourteenth Amendment, Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of 

their constitutional rights, entitling them to declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. 

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

Religious Discrimination/Equal Protection—Michigan Constitution 

(Mich. Const. 1963, Art. 1, Sec. 2) 

 

58. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above-stated paragraphs. 

 

59. By reason of the aforementioned policy, practice, custom, acts and omissions, engaged in 

under color of state law, Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiffs on account of their 

religion and religious practices and have denied Plaintiffs the equal protection of the laws on 

account of their religion and religious practices in violation of Article 1, Section 2 of the 

Michigan Constitution. 

60. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the Michigan Constitution, 

Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of their constitutional rights, entitling 

them to declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. 

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

Expressive Assembly and Association—Michigan Constitution 

(Mich. Const. 1963, Art. 1, Sec. 3) 

 

61. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above-stated paragraphs. 

62. By reason of the aforementioned policy, practice, custom, acts and omissions, engaged in 

under color of state law, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of their right to freely assemble for 

the purposes of religious services and worship as secured by Article 1, Section 3 of the Michigan 
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Constitution by prohibiting Plaintiffs from worshipping and engaging in private religious 

services in a location where they are permitted to do so. 

63. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the Michigan Constitution, 

Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of their constitutional rights, entitling 

them to declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. 

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

Free Exercise—Michigan Constitution 

(Mich. Const. 1963, Art. 1, Sec. 4) 

 

64. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above-stated paragraphs. 

65. By reason of the aforementioned policy, practice, custom, acts and omissions, engaged in 

under color of state law, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of their right to the free exercise of 

religion in violation of Article 1, Section 4 of the Michigan Constitution. 

66. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the Michigan Constitution, 

Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of their constitutional rights, entitling 

them to declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. 

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

Free Speech—Michigan Constitution 

(Mich. Const. 1963, Art. 1, Sec. 5) 

 

67. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above-stated paragraphs. 

68. By reason of the aforementioned policy, practice, custom, acts and omissions, engaged in 

under color of state law, Defendants have deprived Plaintiffs of their right to free speech in 

violation of Article 1, Section 5 of the Michigan Constitution. 
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69. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of the Michigan Constitution, 

Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the loss of their constitutional rights, entitling 

them to declaratory and injunctive relief and damages. 

TWLEVTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

 

Conspiracy—Michigan Constitution 

(Mich. Const. Art.1, Sec 2 – 5) 

 

70. Plaintiffs hereby incorporate by reference all above paragraphs. 

71. By reason of the aforementioned acts and omissions, and policies, practices, and/or 

customs, engaged in under the color of state law, Defendants have conspired to deprive Plaintiffs 

of their rights of expressive assembly and association, to freely exercise their religion, and free 

speech, guaranteed under the Michigan Constitution, in that Defendants agreed to and engaged in 

overt acts that did unlawfully and unreasonably threaten Plaintiffs with criminal action and did 

unlawfully and unreasonably detain and search Plaintiffs because of their lawful activities. 

72. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violation of Plaintiffs’ rights, Plaintiffs 

have suffered direct and irreparable injury, and they are entitled to damages. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask this Court:  

A) to enter judgment declaring that Defendants have violated the First, Fourth, and 

Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution as set forth in this Complaint; 

B) to enter judgment declaring that Defendants have violated the Michigan Constitution of 

1963 as set forth in this Complaint; 
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C) to enter judgment declaring that Waterford Township Ordinance, Sec. 11-167 

“Disturbing the Peace” is unconstitutional on its face and unconstitutional as applied to Plaintiffs 

as set forth in this Complaint;  

D) to enjoin Defendants, their employees, agents, and successors in office from formulating, 

adopting, implementing, and/or enforcing or threatening to enforce any act, policy, custom, law, 

and/or decision having the effect of unlawfully preventing Plaintiffs’ from exercising their 

constitutional rights to freely exercise their religion, freedom of speech, and freedom of 

expressive association guaranteed under the United States Constitution and the Michigan 

Constitution of 1963; 

E) to enjoin Defendants, their employees, agents, and successors in office from formulating, 

adopting, implementing, and/or enforcing or threatening to enforce any act, policy, custom, law, 

and/or decision having the effect of unlawfully searching and seizing the Plaintiffs’ property or 

person without probable cause, without a warrant, and without valid consent under the united 

States Constitution and Michigan Constitution of 1963; 

F) to award nominal and compensatory damages against all Defendants and punitive 

damages against the Defendants sued in their individual capacities pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

and other applicable law. 

G) to award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1988 and other applicable law; 

H) to grant such other and further relief as this Court should find just and proper.  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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 Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs hereby demand 

a trial by jury of all issues triable of right by a jury. 

 

Respectfully Submitted,   THOMAS MORE LAW CENTER 
 
 

By: s/ Brandon M. Bolling 
 

Richard Thompson, Esq. (P21410) 

Brandon M. Bolling, Esq. (P60195) 

24 Frank Lloyd Wright Drive 

P.O. Box 393 

Ann Arbor, MI 48106 

(734) 827-2001 

Counsel for Plaintiffs      
  

 


